IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

JUDIAS BUENOANO a/k/a JUDY
ANN GOODYEAR,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

CASE NO: 68,091

Deputy Clerk

APPEAL FROM
THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA
FIRST DISTRICT

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES A. JOHNSTON
1375 WEST GARDEN STREET
PENSACOLA, FLORIDA 32501
PHONE (904) 432-2349
ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Judy Buenoano, a/k/a/ Judy Ann Goodyear, was the Defendant below and will be referred to here as Defendant.

The Record of Appeal in this case is 22 volumes or 3382 pages. Defendant introduced the records of two other court cases as evidence in this trial and asked they be made a part of the record.

One case, Judias W. Buenoano v. State, Case No: 84-1390 in the Circuit Court of Escambia County, Florida, is included as Volumes XVI through XXII, pages 2358 through 3382.

The other case, Judias Buenoano v. State, Case No: 84-I-17 in the Circuit Court of Santa Rosa County, Florida, has been appealed and is now before this Court as Case No: 68,074. Therefore, the Record of Appeal from Santa Rosa County is already before this Court and could not physically be made a part of the record in the instant case.

When reference is made to a part of the record from the Santa Rosa County case, it is noted as such.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Defendant was indicted August 31, 1984, by the Grand Jury for the Ninth Judicial Circuit, Orange County, Florida, for murder in the first degree. The indictment charged that Defendant did, on September 1, 1971, and on prior days during 1971, more particularly unknown, adminis-

ter arsenic poison to James E. Goodyear and as a result thereof, he died on September 16, 1971. (R-2179)

The State's theory of the case is that as soon as James E. Goodyear returned home from duty in Viet Nam, Defendant began to administer arsenic poisoning to him on several occasions and that when he became ill, she would not take him to the doctor right away but waited until he was in a really bad condition. Defendant's theory is the State did not prove James E. Goodyear actually died of arsenic poison, but only that there was arsenic present when an autopsy was performed 13 years after his death. Defendant further contends there is no evidence she purchased or administered arsenic to James E. Goodyear. Further, without evidence of similar fact and "confessions" by Defendant, the State could not prove the corpus delicti.

The State filed a Notice of Intent to offer evidence of other criminal offenses on November 9, 1984. (R-2194) There were four other crimes offered, including an attempted murder by paraformaldehyde poison, and murder by arsenic poison.

Defendant filed a Motion in Limine January 29, 1985, regarding the other crimes evidence (R-2210) and the State filed a Response on March 1, 1985. Defendant filed an Amended Motion in Limine (R-2221) concerning testimony of one Mary Lloyd which was a purported confession by Appellant which should not have been admitted until the State met its

burden of proving the corpus delicti.

On March 19, 1985, a hearing was held concerning the other crimes evidence and Motion in Limine. The Motion in Limine concerning the attempted murder by bombing and the murder by drowning was granted and Defendant's Amended Motion in Limine concerning the testimony of Mary Lloyd was granted. Defendant's Motion in Limine concerning the arsenic poisoning of Bobby Joe Morris in 1977 and 1978 and the attempted murder of John Gentry in 1982 and 1983 by paraformaldehyde poisoning was denied. This order was entered April 1, 1985. (R-2245)

Defendant filed her Motion to Dismiss May 28, 1985 (R-2252). A traverse was filed by the State. (R-2263) The Motion to Dismiss was denied. (R-2269)

Jury selection began on October 21, 1985. (R-2285) On November 1, 1985, the jury found Defendant guilty of murder in the first degree as charged, (R-2313) and on November 26, 1985, recommended the Court impose the death penalty. (R-2329)

The Court imposed a sentence of death in open court on November 26, 1985. (R-2331) Defendant filed a Motion for New Trial on November 12, 1985 (R-2217) and an Amended Motion for New Trial on December 17, 1985. (R-2338). Notice of Appeal was filed December 20, 1985. (R-2339)

The Court's Order of Factual Finding Supporting the Imposition of the Death Penalty was entered January 29,

1986 (R-2342) and Order denying Defendant's Motion for New Trial was entered February 11, 1986.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

James E. Goodyear was a sergeant in the United States Air Force. In 1971 he was in Viet Nam as an airplane mechanic and returned home to Orlando in June, 1971. (R-238) In September, 1971, Mr. Goodyear began suffering from nausea, vomiting, and diarrhea. He was seen by Dr. R. C. Auchenbach at the Naval Hospital in Orlando on September 13, 1971. He had a two-week history of these symptoms (R-238-239) and told Dr. Auchenbach he had been working at McCoy Air Force Base where he would be exposed to toxic fumes and substances such as lead fumes. (R-243) Prior to his seeing Dr. Auchenbach at the hospital, records show he had been seen on several occasions by the infirmary. (R-238)

Goodyear was hospitalized from the 13th of September through September 16, 1971, when he died. (R-245)

Dr. Auchenbach testified Goodyear died predominantly as a consequence of cardiovascular collapse and renal failure. (R-254) He testified he gave Goodyear 5,000 cc's (five quarts) of fluid and only 300 cc's was excreted. (R-290) Mr. Goodyear got fluid overload and pulmonary congestion. (R-292) Dr. Auchenbach admitted forced IV fluid given Mr. Goodyear was a contributing circumstance in his death. (R-328)

At the time of Goodyear's death, toxicological assays were not performed because at the time, they did not think of the possibility of toxic poisoning. (R-283)

Dr. Auchenbach said tests were performed to determine the absence or presence of lead which test was negative. (R-254) A report of Dr. Spencer of the Armed Forces Institute of Pathology (State's Exhibit "2"), stated traces of both lead and arsenic were found. (R-317, 320) Dr. Auchenbach said the tests performed at the Naval Hospital then may have been conducted improperly which would have been the reason no lead was found there. (R-325-326)

Fourteen years later, the body of Goodyear was exhumed and an autopsy performed. (R-227) Dr. Leonard Bednarczyk, Ph.D., a forensic toxicologist for Miami/Dade Criminal Justice Council, analyzed samples given to him. (R-337)

Dr. Bednarczyk said he analyzed portions of the liver, kidney, and sections of hair and nails from one side of the body. (R-338) His findings were as follows: Liver, 4.5 mg per kg; kidney, 8.3 mg per kg; hair was approximately two inches in length and divided into three equal portions: root, 95 mg per kg; medial or center, 30 mg per kg; and distal end, 10 mg per kg. (R-344)

These levels are inconclusive to say James E. Goodyear actually died from arsenic poisoning. (R-1300) Two scales indicating fatal ranges of arsenic poisoning were introduced. They are Curry and Bhsalt. (R-1295-1297)

The Curry Book gives the fatal ranges as follows: Liver, 10 to 500 mg. per kg., and kidney, 5 to 150 mg. per kg. (R-1295)

The Bhsalt Book gives the fatal ranges as follows: Liver, 2 to 120 mg. per kg., and kidney, 0.2 to 70 mg. per kg. Average fatal ranges are: Liver, 29 mg. per kg, and kidney, 15 mg. per kg. (R-1296-1297)

Liver is the best organ from which to determine concentration of arsenic. (R-912) Mr. Goodyear's level of 4.5 mg. per kg. in the liver is not even in the fatal range in the Curry table and far below the average of 29 mg. per kg. listed in Bhsalt.

In addition to testimony which merely showed James E. Goodyear had some exposure to arsenic, the State presented the testimony of Constance Lang who knew the Defendant in 1969 or 1970 when Defendant was married to Goodyear. (R-461)

Ms. Lang said she had difficulty in her marriage and discussed this with the Defendant often. (R-462) She said she had a feeling Judy and James had grown apart-- didn't have the same interests anymore. This was while Goodyear was in Viet Nam. (R-462-463)

Ms. Lang said they joked about solving their problems by lacing their husbands' food with arsenic. She said this was a running joke. (R-463) In her deposition taken before trial. Ms. Lang was not sure whether the word "arsenic" was actually used when she and the Defendant joked

about poisoning their husband, but during the trial she became absolutely sure that specifically they used the word "arsenic". (R-495)

Debra J. Sims lived with the Defendant when Good-year returned home from Viet Nam. (R-570) She said the Defendant never appeared to be unhappy with her marriage and she saw no fussing or fighting between Defendant and her husband. (R-580) She said after Mr. Goodyear returned home from Viet Nam he became sickly and at one time was hallucinating. (R-571)

Robert Crawford, a/k/a Earl Howard Spence, testified he had been sexually intimate with Defendant on several occasions while her husband was in Viet Nam. (R-640-642) He said she did not ever make any derogative remarks about her marriage. (R-643)

Mary Beverly Owens said she met Defendant in 1971 in Pensacola. Bobby Joe Morris took Defendant to Mary Owens' home. (R-656) Later, Owens said she was having trouble with her husband and had moved from her home to an apartment. (R-659) She and Judy went to the grocery store one morning and were discussing Mary Owens' marital problems. Owens said Judy told her she had killed her husband and she, Owens, could kill hers by obtaining poison in the "fly bait" department of the grocery store. She said Judy told her the poison had arsenic in it and it would build up in your system. (R-661)

Mrs. Lodell Morris, mother of Bobby Joe Morris,

said Defendant stated her husband didn't deserve to live and she killed "the son of a bitch". (R-698)

There were two policies on the life of James E. Goodyear. One policy went into effect in 1961 with a face value of \$5,000.00. The beneficiary was Judy A. Goodyear, wife. A total of \$5,245.47 was paid October 20, 1971, on that policy. The second policy went into effect in 1969, was paid to Judy A. Goodyear in the sum of \$8,039.56 and was paid on October 19, 1971. (R-425-426)

Prudential Insurance Company paid \$5,000.00 on October 6, 1971, to Judy A. Goodyear. This was Servicemen Group Insurance. (R-431, 435-436)

Defendant became entitled to Veteran's Administration benefits after Goodyear's death. (R-446). The benefits started at \$257.00 per month in 1971 and at the time of termination, August, 1984, the benefits were \$544.00 per month. (R-447-448)

The State's theory is Defendant, over a period of time, poisoned her husband with arsenic so she could receive the insurance and VA benefits. Defendant says the State has not even proved Goodyear died from arsenic poisoning or that she was responsible for any exposure he may have had to arsenic.

Similar fact evidence was used to bolster the State's case and evidence was presented that Bobby Joe Morris, who Defendant later lived with, died and she collected insurance benefits from his death. (R-731, 739, 740,

747, 752) His body was exhumed in 1984 and arsenic was found to be present in a level the toxicologist determined to be consistent with arsenic poisoning. (R-874) There was no testimony connecting Defendant with his death.

John Gentry said he lived with the Defendant (R-949) and he and the Defendant obtained insurance naming each other as beneficiary in the amount of \$500,000.00. (R-953) He said she gave him tablets which were supposed to be vitamin C and he became very ill. (R-956) Two of these tablets were later analyzed and found to contain paraformaldehyde. (R-1012)

Vickie Lewis, who was employed by the Defendant in the fall of 1982 said Defendant told her John Gentry had cancer and was going to die and he didn't want anyone to know. (R-995-997)

Francis Keith Lewis said sometime after John Gentry was ill, Defendant told him she found a letter from a doctor in Mobile, Alabama, stating that Mr. Gentry had a terminal illness. (R-1003)

ISSUE

- I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN AND ADMITTING COLLATERAL CRIME EVIDENCE WITH REGARD TO ARSENIC POISONING OF BOBBY JOE MORRIS AND ATTEMPTED POISONING OF JOHN GENTRY.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Similar fact evidence is only admissible if it is relevant to prove a fact in issue. It must be shown that the collateral crime was committed and committed by the person on trial. If there is no evidence connecting the Defendant to the collateral crime, it is not admissible. In this case, the State did not present evidence that Bobby Joe Morris, another individual Defendant lived with, died by criminal means, much less that Defendant was responsible for his death.

The collateral crime evidence concerning John Gentry was not similar, was too remote, and therefore not relevant.

After presenting a few witnesses to establish James Goodyear died and his exhumed body contained arsenic, the State then went right into the collateral crimes. This evidence became a feature and not merely an incident.

This collateral crimes evidence only showed propensity and bad character which is prohibited by Williams v. State, 110 So.2d 654, (Fla. 1959).

ARGUMENT

The evidence presented concerning Bobby Joe Morris was only that Defendant and her children lived with him at the time of his death; (R-699) she held herself out to be his wife (R-720-721, 736, 745), she collected insurance benefits upon his death (R-731, 747, 752), and his body was found to contain elevated levels of arsenic. (R-872) This amounts to no more proof Defendant administered the arsenic to Bobby Morris than did the evidence in the case of Norris v. State, 158 So.2d 803 (Fla. 1st DCA 1964)

In the Norris case, the deceased died of arsenic poisoning. The State introduced evidence a former husband's exhumed body contained arsenic and another gentlemen whom Defendant Norris became closely associated with following her husband's death also was found to have arsenic in his exhumed body.

The Defendant, Norris, was not shown to be in any manner connected therewith other than she was in such position she had an opportunity, if she so desired, to administer the poison to them.

The way the evidence worked in the instant case was, in conjunction with evidence Defendant murdered Mr. Goodyear by arsenic poisoning and the mere fact Mr. Morris' body contained arsenic would tend to make the jury assume Defendant administered the arsenic to Morris.

Similar fact evidence is not supposed to work that way. You are not permitted to prove the collateral crime

(Morris) with the crime Defendant is being tried for (Goodyear) which is what the State did. Evidence of a collateral crime is inadmissible unless accompanied by evidence connecting the Defendant therewith. Weiss v. State, 124 So.2d 528 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1960); Chapman v. State, 417 So.2d 1028 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1982); Dibble v. State, 347 So.2d 1096 (Fla. 1977); and Norris v. State, supra.

There are no cases which allow you to prove the collateral crime by other crimes and then use that collateral crime as proof one committed the crime for which he is on trial. If that were so, the State could always throw in all accusations of other crimes by a Defendant without proof the Defendant committed them. This is precisely what the Courts of this State have prohibited. Williams v. State, supra.

Prior to evidence of an independent crime being admissible, it is essential to show the former crime was committed and committed by the person on trial. Norris v. State, supra, and State v. Norris, 168 So.2d 541 (Fla. 1964); Long v. State, 407 So.2d 1018 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1981).

There were no incriminating statements by the Defendant regarding the death of Bobby Joe Morris, no evidence she purchased or possessed arsenic, no evidence she desired him dead. There was only opportunity and motive but no evidence connecting Defendant to his death by arsenic poisoning. The Morris case standing alone could never go to trial, so how could it be used as proof Defendant murdered

James Goodyear?

The evidence presented concerning the attempted poisoning of John Gentry was in no way similar to the arsenic poisoning of Goodyear. Mr. Gentry said he became ill after taking Vicon C tablets given to him by Defendant. (R-955) For purpose of proving criminal motive, design or intent, the conduct allegedly committed at other times and places must not be too remote and must be similar. U. S. v. Nill, C.A., 5188 F.2d 793 (1975); McGough v. State, 302 So.2d 751 (Fla. 1974); Farnell v. State, 214 So.2d 753 (Fla. 1968); Talley v. State, 36 So.2d 201 (Fla. 1948); Norris v. State, supra.

The time between the death of James E. Goodyear and the attempted poisoning of John Gentry was over eleven years. The Court in McGough v. State, 302 So.2d 751 (Fla. 1974) held relevancy is not the sole criterion for admissibility of a prior crime, but timeliness is a part of the relevancy. The Court concluded that remote crimes are not relevant crimes.

Recently in Peek v. State, 488 So.2d 52 (Fla. 1986), this Court held that collateral crime evidence is not relevant and admissible merely because it involves the same type of offense.

Quoting from Drake v. State, 400 So.2d 1217 (Fla. 1981), this Court noted:

"Mere general similarity will not render the similar facts legally relevant to show identity. There must be identifiable points of similarity which pervade the compared factual situations. Given

sufficient similarity, in order for the similar facts to be relevant, the points of similarity must have some special character or be so unusual as to point to the defendant."

This Court further said in Drake, supra, the similarities and uniqueness of the compared factual situations were insufficient to allow admissibility of the collateral crime evidence and the similar fact evidence only tended to prove propensity and bad character. The Court applied the Williams Rule to the Peek case and said the dissimilarities greatly outnumber the similarities.

There is no more similarity between murdering someone with arsenic poisoning and giving someone paraformaldehyde in amounts only sufficient to make you sick than shooting someone with a .44 magnum pistol and another person with a .22 rifle. Both persons were shot--both persons were poisoned--but the method is so dissimilar that no purpose could be served other than to show propensity and bad character.

In addition to the foregoing reasons, the admission of the similar fact evidence was error because it became the feature of the State's case.

Williams v. State, supra, held the State went too far in introduction of evidence of a later crime and "transcended the bounds of relevancy to the charge being tried and made the later offense a feature instead of an incident to the offense being tried". This excessive testimony resulted in an assault on the character of the accused. See also Davis v. State, 276 So.2d 846 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1973) aff'd

State v. Davis, 290 So.2d 30 (Fla. 1974).

In Matthews v. State, 366 So.2d 170 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1979), the Court held extensive use of a collateral crime in that case was to emphasize Matthew's involvement with another crime "thereby implicating appellant with criminal propensity, i.e., to make appellant's involvement in the collateral crime a main 'feature' or theme in the instant case", and was reversible error. See also Knox v. State, 361 So.2d 799 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978); and Zeigler v. State, 404 So.2d 861 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981).

The Court in Ashley v. State, 265 So.2d 685 (Fla. 1972) stated:

"We are equally committed to the proposition that the State in introducing testimony concerning other crimes committed by a defendant may not make such crimes a feature of the trial instead of an incident so that the effect is to devolve from development of facts pertinent to the main issue of guilt or innocence into an attack on the character of the defendant."

In Mattera v. State, 409 So.2d 257 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982), the District Court reversed and remanded because it said four of the State's eight witnesses in the robbery trial testified to a collateral robbery and the prosecutor made the collateral robbery a feature, not merely an incident. "The use of the evidence to this extent constituted reversible error." Ziegler v. State, 404 So.2d 861 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981); Williams v. State, 117 So.2d 473 (Fla. 1960).

The State argues the similar fact evidence was admissible to show a common design or plan. (R-2225)

"Neither a continuing course of conduct, a plan or scheme, nor a modus operandi is an end in and of itself which may be proved in a criminal case." Duncan v. State, 291 So.2d 241 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1974)

To be relevant, evidence must prove or tend to prove a fact in issue. Coler v. State, 411 So.2d 238 (Fla. 1982) What fact in issue could the collateral crimes evidence prove in this case?

If the fact to be proved were identity, then the Gentry case would not fit within the prescribed "similarity" to prove that issue. As stated in Drake v. State, supra,

"The mode of operating theory of proving identity is based on both the similarity of and the unusual nature of the factual situations being compared. A mere general similarity will not render the similar facts legally relevant to show identity. There must be identifiable points of similarity which pervade the compared factual situations."

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