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

as in the case of <u>Norris v. State</u>, 158 So.2d 803 (Fla. 1st DCA 1964), cited by the appellant.

The appellant also argues that the evidence presented concerning the attempted poisoning of John Gentry was in no way similar to the arsenic poisoning of Goodyear. The <u>Nelson</u> case, previously discussed is also dispositive of the issues of similarity and remoteness in time.

The time span between Goodyear's death and Morris was six The time span between the death of Morris and the years. attempted poisoning of Gentry was only four years. The time span between the death of Goodyear and the attempted poisoning of Gentry was eleven years. Thus, the average time span between each incident was between 5-7 years. Based upon the Nelson case, the similar fact evidence was not too remote in time, but showed common design or plan by Buenoano to murder her male companions to collect insurance proceeds and other monetary benefits. Α substantial period of time is required under such a serial murder scheme to form relationships strong enough to culminate in the procuring of large life insurance policies. Again, Buenoano should not be rewarded on the basis of the means she employed to accomplish her lethal ends.

In the case of <u>Townsend v. State</u>, 420 So.2d 615 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982) the defendant contended that the trial court erred in admitting similar fact evidence because the evidence was not similar. In order to corroborate the defendant's confession regarding the homicides for which he was on trial, the state adduced similar fact evidence of six other homicides which occured

- 16 -

in 1979, involving black women, except for one white woman, all between the ages of thirteen and thirty. The victims were either known prostitutes or had been seen walking the street, leading the defendant to believe they were prostitutes. All of the incidents occurred in the same geographical area of Northwest Fort Lauderdale, except for two which occurred in Miami in close proximity to each other. All of the homicides occurred on open lots surrounded by debris or weeds or structure to hide the victims. They were all found partially nude or nude from the waist down with their clothing located nearby. Most of them were lying on their backs with their legs in spread eagle fashion. In all but two of the homicides, the cause of death was strangulation.

The court in affirming the use of similar fact evidence said that: "one would suppose that no two crimes could be identical; thus, the key is similarity, not identity. The similarity in the commission of the collateral crimes referred to above is no mere general likeness. Rather, we hold the similar facts are identifiable and they pervade the compared factual situations. Therefore, the collateral crime evidence was relevant to prove identity and similar mode of operation as well as motive." 420 So.2d at 615.

In <u>Chandler v. State</u>, 442 So.2d 171 (Fla. 1983) this court addressed the issue of whether Chandler's previous convictions were similar to those charged in his present case. The victim in the similar fact case had been abducted against his will, taken to a remote area, and with his hands tied behind his back, beaten about the head with a blunt instrument and robbed. The defendant contended that the coincidence of one or two details, such as the tying of the victim's hands behind their backs, was not sufficiently relevant to the issue of identity to be admissible under section 90.404(2) and the <u>Williams</u> Rule, based upon <u>Drake</u> <u>v. State</u>, 400 So.2d 1217 (Fla. 1981)

This court distinguished Drake, as in Drake, there were a number of significant dissimilarities between the collateral crime and the crime charged, including the fact that the previous crime involved only sexual assault, while the later crime was murder with little if any evidence of sexual abuse. The dissimilarities pointed to such as time of day the crimes were committed and the specific blunt instrument used, "suggest differences in the opportunities with which Chandler was faced with rather than significant differences in modus operandi as in Drake." 442 So.2d at 173. This court held that, although both crimes may not be sufficiently unique or unusual, when considered individually, to establish a common modus operandi, when those points are considered one with another, they established a sufficiently unique pattern of criminal activity to justify admission of evidence of Chandler's collateral crime as relevant to the issue of identity in the crime charged. 442 So.2d at 173.

In the present case, the evidence in all three factual situations reflects that Buenoano established a close relationship with all <u>three</u> men, including Gentry, either as a wife, common-law wife, or fiance, as in the case of Gentry. Shortly after obtaining life insurance on their lives, they

- 18 -

became ill, displaying similar symptoms. A poison was used in all cases. Buenoano was the beneficiary of life insurance policies and monetary benefits of all three. The factual situations in all three are similar and not just a general likeness. That Gentry was given paraformaldehyde rather than arsenic has to do with opportunity rather than any significant difference in modus operandi.

It is obvious that the jury's judgment was not overwhelmed by the quantity of the collateral crime evidence, especially in view of the fact that Buenoano made several admissions that she had committed the present crime. A good portion of the transcript pages represents appellant's cross-examination of the state witnesses. See, Sias v. State, 416 So.2d 1213, 1216 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982). Costance Lang's tetimony only fleetingly referred to Morris (R 474-477), as did Mary Owens'. (R 655; 664-665) Lodell Morris also testified as to the facts relevant to the Goodyear case. (R 697-698) Beginning with the testimony of insurance agents, until the time the state rested, approximately three hundred pages of transcript dealt purely with collateral crimes, including cross-examination. (R 719-1038) The state called ony those witnesses necessary to establish the similar fact evidence and did not practice over-kill. See, Wilson v. State, 330 So.2d 457 (Fla. 1976). There is no indication that the jury misunderstood the purpose for which this evidence was admitted and the appellant has failed to demonstrate reversible error.

II. THE STATE PROVED THE CORPUS DELICTI IN THE PRESENT CASE INDEPENDENT OF THE CONFESSION AND SIMILAR FACT EVIDENCE AND THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED THE MOTION FOR DIRECTED VERDICT OF ACQUITAL.

The term "corpus delicti" as applied to any particular offense means that the state must establish that the specific crime charged has actually been committed. The corpus delicti in homicide cases consists of (1) the fact of death and (2) the existence of the criminal agency of another as the cause of death, conected with (3) the identity of the deceased. <u>Blake v.</u> <u>State</u>, 156 So.2d 511 (Fla. 1963). It is not necessary that the corpus delicti be proved beyond a reasonable doubt as the basis for the introduction of a confession. It is enough if the evidence tends to show that the crime was committed. <u>Frazier v.</u> <u>State</u>, 107 So.2d 16 (Fla. 1958).

Doctor Auchenbach testified as to the fact of death below, stating that Goodyear was hopsitalized from September 15, 1971 through September 16, 1971. (R 245) A certified copy of the death certificate was introduced into evidence. (R 225; 230) The defense stipulated that the remains in the casket were those of Goodyear. (R 233-234)

As indicated in the statement of the case and facts, numerous medical experts testified that in their medical opinion, the cause of death was arsenic toxication. Expert medical testimony as to the cause of death does not need to be stated with reasonsable certainty in a homicide prosecution and is competent if the expert can show that, in his opinion, the occurrence could cause death or that the occurrence might have or

- 20 -

probably did cause death. <u>Delap v. State</u>, 440 So.2d 1242 (Fla. 1983).

The confusion over the arsenic level of the liver not falling within the fatal range listed on the Curry and Bhsalt scales has been fully discussed in pages 4-5 of the statement of the facts, and suffice it to say that the levels for chronic arsenic poisoning are below the ranges indicated on these two scales. Contrary to the appellant's assertion, the levels were high enough to determine that Goodyear died of chronic arsenic Dr. Leonard Bednarczyk, a forensic toxicologist, poisoning. analyzed the samples from the autopsy performed on Goodyear in 1984. (R 334-337) He prepared arsenic standards and the samples were analyzed by spectrophotometry. (R 338) His method of analyses and tests is an accepted method recognized in the scientific community. (R 389) While Dr. Robert Braman, an analytical chemist, quetioned the validity of the test results of Dr. Bednarczyk, he is not familiar with any guidelines that forensic toxicologists must follow. (R 1171) He admitted that in hospitals life and death decisions are made based on tests run once and that acid digestion, used by Dr. Bednarczyk in this case, will destroy formaldehyde so you can get at the arsenic. (R 1169-1171) Moreover Dr. Braman neither analyzed the samples nor talked to Dr. Bednarczyk. (R 1176) He further admitted that symptoms of arsenic poisoning were present in the medical records of Goodyear and that the concentrations of arsenic in the hair is consistent with chronic arsenic poisoning. (R 1176) Thus the findings were never shown to be inaccurate.

While it is true that Dr. Bednarczyk could not determine the type of arsenic from the sample he examined, the levels were, in any event, lethal, and accidental or environmental exposure was ruled out. If you breathe air contaminated by arsenic you will The fact that he could have not find assayable amounts. (R 288) gotten arsenic from the environment was excluded because if it was in the atmosphere in that concentration, other individuals would have to have been poisoned also. (R 276) There was nothing in Goodyear's history to indicate that he had any contact with pesticides or that his family or other airmen suffered from the same symptoms. (R 313-314) Nor was there any support for the theory of a one time exposure of Agent Blue in Vietnam. There was a period of several weeks from the time he left Vietnam until he became symptomatic in Orlando. The levels indicate chronic If he were exposed to an agent in Vietnam that same exposure. exposure would have to have continued in Orlando to have such chronic exposure. If there were such one-time exposure, the levels of arsenic in the hair would tend to go down rather than up after his return to the United States. (R 383-384)

The Armed Forces Institute Report stated "this death is suspicious for arsenic and lead intoxication. However, there is not sufficient information to determine the cause or manner of death from the materials examined." (R 323) This report, however, was just a reassessment of the autopsy findings from the paraffin blocks that had been preserved from his previous autopsy in 1971. It showed the presence of some heavy metals but not the amount. (R 305) The report makes no mention of Dr. Bednarczyk's

- 22 -

or Dr. Hegert's later reports or findings. (R 331)

The levels of arsenic found by Dr. Bednarczyk are indicative of the actual levels of the organs at the time of death. Arsenic is not used in embalming. (R 405-408;414) The levels would not increase by intermingling of organs. (R 388) Moreover the levels found in the hair were not shown to be subject to change with passage of time. Dr. Loomis further agreed that the causes of death listed on Goodyear's death certificate could be consistent with chronic arsenic poisoning if it were terminal. (R 1333)

The evidence further reflected that Buenoano was unhappy in her marriage before and after Goodyear returned from Vietnam and discussed arsenic poisoning as a solution on numerous occasions. (R 462-463; 469; 470) During his absence she had been unfaithful. (R 642-643) At the time of Goodyear's return he was healthy, then started to deteriorate. (R 570-572) Although he was hallucinating, Buenoano would not take him to a hospital. (R She collected insurance proceeds upon his death. (R 425-573) 426; 435-436; 447) She lied to numerous people as to his cause of death, attributing it to black plague, (R 471) narcotics addiction, (R 645) a virus (R 659) and finally a plane crash in Vietnam. (R 951)

Thus, in the absence of a confession, the state proved a prima facia case by showing a prior statement about a potential cause of death and an actual cause of death consistent with that statement and a motive, marital unhappiness and insurance proceeds, as well as a further act indicating a desire for death to occur - the refusal to hospitalize Goodyear, and later

- 23 -

concealment of the actual cause of death. Coupled with Buenoano's admissions that she killed Goodyear, as well as evidence of other poisonings which reflects a pattern showing lack of mistake or accident and motive and modus operandi, it is clear that a directed verdict of acquittal was not warranted either at the close of the state's case or at the close of all the evidence. III. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED THE APPELLANT'S UNTIMELY MOTION FOR A MISTRIAL ON THE BASIS OF A GRATUITOUS COMMENT MADE BY A WITNESS ON CROSS-EXAMINATION.

As a predicate to a motion for mistrial, the defendant also must object or move to strike the improper material. Failure to object or move to strike waives appeal of this issue, regardless of whether a motion for mistrial is made properly. Clark v. State, 363 So.2d 331 (Fla. 1978). To meet the objectives of any contemporaneous objection rule, the objection must be sufficiently specific both to apprise the trial judge of the putative error and to preserve the issue for intelligent review on appeal. <u>Castor v. State</u>, 365 So.2d 701, 703 (Fla. 1978). The colloguy in the present case is as follows:

Q. Where was Judy living at that time?

A. I only went into Judy's apartment one time, and she was living at Royal Arms Apartments, and that's where she lived.

Q. She wasn't living in Orlando?

A. Not in January she wasn't, because---.

Q. Are you sure about that?

A. She told me she had burned her house, Mr. Johnston, and had collected the insurance, and her home was burned.

MR. JOHNSTON: I move to object to that.

THE COURT: Sustain the objection. The witness is required to answer the question asked by the lawyer. BY MR. JOHNSTON:

Q. If you will be responsive to my question. I asked you was she not living in Orlando in January of 1972?

A. No, she wasn't.

(R 674)

It is clear that no contemporaneous objection was made below on the basis of the argument now raised on appeal, thus such issue cannot be considered adequately preserved for appeal. Furthermore the general objection appears to have been sustained by the trial judge on the basis that the answer was nonresponsive and the answer was neither stricken nor requested to be stricken so it would appear, as well, that the trial judge was not adequately apprised of the nature of the putative error.

The record further reveals that no timely motion for mistrial was ever made. (R 674) It was not until nine subsequent witnesses completed their testimony that the defense moved the court to declare a mistrial on the basis that witness Owens' testimony during cross-examination accused Buenoano of the crime of burning her home in Orlando, Florida. The sole reason given for this delay was that "At the time she made the statement I contemplated asking the Court for a mistrial, but the jury was seated and I simply didn't want to do it at that time." (R 820) It is clear that a motion for mistrial should immediately follow testimony. By waiting until final the improper jury instructions. the defendant is deemed to have waived the motion. State v. Cumbie, 380 So.2d 1031 (Fla. 1980). (R 823)

At the time the motion for mistrial was untimely interjected and denied by the trial court, the trial judge suggested that a currative instruction by given and defense counsel agreed to the same and formally requested such instruction. (R 823-824) The jury was subsequently instructed:

> She stated that she was in Pensacola because she indicated she burned her house down in Orlando. That was a gratuitous statement. You are to disregard that statement. It was inappropriate and its not to be used in any consideration of the testimony in this case.

(R 831)

A motion for mistrial is directed to the sound discretion of the trial court and should be granted only when it is necessary to ensure that the defendant recieves a fair trial. <u>see</u>, <u>Ferquson v. State</u>, 417 So.2d 639 (Fla. 1982); <u>Salvatore v. State</u>, 366 So.2d 745 (Fla. 1978). Even in the event this court may deem this issue sufficiently preserved for appeal, the trial court correctly denied the motion for mistrial and, in any event, the currative instruction given in this case was sufficient to dissipate any prejudicial effects of this testimony. <u>See</u>, <u>Jennings v. State</u>, 453 So.2d 1109 (Fla. 1984); <u>Rivers v. State</u>, 226 So.2d 337 (Fla. 1969).

- 27 -

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